

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION

505 VAN NESS AVENUE SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102-3298 **FILED** 05/14/18 08:00 AM

May 14, 2018

Agenda ID #<u>16517</u> Ratesetting

TO PARTIES OF RECORD IN RULEMAKING 15-02-020

This is the proposed decision of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Mason. It will appear on the Commission's May 31, 2018 agenda. The Commission may act then, or it may postpone action until later.

When the Commission acts on the proposed decision, it may adopt all or part of it as written, amend or modify it, or set it aside and prepare its own decision. Only when the Commission acts does the decision become binding on the parties.

Pursuant to Rule 14.6(c)(2), comments on the proposed decision must be filed within 7 days of its mailing, reply comments must be filed within 11 days of its mailing.

Comments must be filed pursuant to Rule 1.13 either electronically or in hard copy. Comments should be served on parties to this proceeding in accordance with Rules 1.9 and 1.10. Electronic and hard copies of comments should be sent to ALJ Mason at RIM@cpuc.ca.gov and the assigned Commissioner. The current service list for this proceeding is available on the Commission's website at www.cpuc.ca.gov.

The Commission may hold a Ratesetting Deliberative Meeting to consider this item in closed session in advance of the Business Meeting at which the item will be heard. In such event, notice of the Ratesetting Deliberative Meeting will appear in the Daily Calendar, which is posted on the Commission's website. If a Ratesetting Deliberative Meeting is scheduled, ex parte communications are prohibited pursuant to Rule 8.3(c)(4)(B).

/s/ ANNE E. SIMON

Anne E. Simon Chief Administrative Law Judge

AES/vm2 Attachment

Agenda ID#16517 Ratesetting

Decision PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJ MASON (Mailed 5-14-2018)

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Continue Implementation and Administration, and Consider Further Development, of California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program.

Rulemaking 15-02-020

DECISION MODIFYING SECTIONS 4.1 AND 4.2 OF THE BIOENERGY MARKET ADJUSTING TARIFF POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT APPROVED IN DECISION 15-09-004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Pages</u>
Sun	nmary	2 -
1.	Background	3
	1.1. The BioMAT Program	3
	1.2. The BioMAT PPA	3
	1.2. The Winding Creek Litigation	5
	1.3. Resolution E-4922	5
	1.4. The Assigned Commissioner's Ruling and Party Comments	6
	1.4.1. PG&E	7
	1.4.2. San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E)	7
	1.4.3. Southern California Edison Company (SCE)	9
	1.4.4. The Bioenergy Association of California (BAC)	10
	1.4.5. The California Biomass Energy Alliance (CBEA)	11
	1.4.6. The Agricultural Energy Consumers Association (AECA)	11
	1.4.7. The Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA)	12
	1.4.8. Placer County Air Pollution Control District (PCAPCD)	13
	1.4.9. Phoenix Energy	14
2.	Discussion	15
	2.1. The Commission has the Authority to Shorten or Waive the ComPeriod in order to Issue Decisions on an Expedited Basis	
	2.2. The Public Necessity to Act Quickly by Shortening the Commer Period on this Decision Outweighs the Need for a 30-day Comment Period	t
	2.3. Response to Party Comments to the April 16, 2018 ACR	
	Comments on Proposed Decision	
Acc	ignment of Proceeding	
	dings of Facts	
	nclusions of Law	
	DER	29

Agenda ID#16517 Ratesetting

Decision PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJ MASON (Mailed 5-14-2018)

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Continue Implementation and Administration, and Consider Further Development, of California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program.

Rulemaking 15-02-020

DECISION MODIFYING SECTIONS 4.1 AND 4.2 OF THE BIOENERGY MARKET ADJUSTING TARIFF POWER PURCHASE AGREEMENT APPROVED IN DECISION 15-09-004

Summary

This decision, which is being adopted on an expedited basis, modifies Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff (BioMAT) Power Purchase Agreement (PPA), approved in Decision 15-09-004, by removing the language "or any Laws" and "or any Law" from the attestation clauses found in Subsections 4.1.2 and 4.2.3, respectively. The need for this modification stems from the assertion made by the utilities and other parties that their ability to execute BioMAT contracts has been impaired by recent legal developments in the Renewable Energy Market Adjusting Tariff (ReMAT) realm. Thus, with this modification, the Commission addresses this perceived legal impediment so that that parties and contractual participants can move forward and execute pending BioMAT PPAs, thus enabling the BioMAT program to help meet California's environmental, air quality, and public safety priorities.

1. Background

1.1. The BioMAT Program

Senate Bill (SB) 1122 (Rubio, 2012) added a requirement to California's Renewables Portfolio Standard (RPS) program¹ for 250 MW of RPS-eligible procurement from small-scale bioenergy projects that commence operation on or after June 1, 2013.² In Decision 14-12-081 and Decision 15-09-004, the Commission implemented SB 1122 by adopting the BioMAT program. In Decision 16-10-025, the Commission implemented several changes to the BioMAT program in response to the tree mortality emergency identified in Governor Edmund G. Brown's October 30, 2015 Proclamation of a State of Emergency and SB 840 (Trailer Bill, 2016).³ Most recently in D.17-08-021, the Commission implemented changes to the effective capacity limitation of projects in the BioMAT program pursuant to Assembly Bill (AB) 1979 (Bigelow, 2016).⁴

1.2. The BioMAT PPA

In Decision (D.) 15-09-004, the Commission Approved, as Modified, Bioenergy Electric Generation Tariff, Standard Contract, and Supporting Documents to Implement Decision 14-12-081 on Bioenergy Feed-In Tariff for the Renewables Portfolio Standard Program. D.15-09-004 authorizes the investor-owned electric utilities to file a tariff, standard contract, and ancillary documents that comply with the determinations made in that decision regarding the draft documents.

¹ The California RPS program was established by Senate Bill (SB) 1078, and has been subsequently modified by SB 107, SB 1036, SB 2 (1X), and SB 350. See SB 1078 (Sher, Chapter 516, Statutes of 2002); SB 107 (Simitian, Chapter 464, Statutes of 2006); SB 1036 (Perata, Chapter 685, Statutes of 2007); SB 2 (1X) (Simitian, Chapter 1, Statutes of 2011, First Extraordinary Session); SB 350 (de León, Chapter 547, Statutes of 2015).

² § 399.20.

³ *Ibid*.

⁴ Ibid.

As a result of D.15-09-004, PG&E, along with Southern California Edison Company and San Diego Gas & Electric Company, drafted a joint Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff Agreement.⁵ Of note are Sections 4.1 (Representations and Warranties) and 4.2 (General Covenants), which provide as follows:

- 4.1. Representations and Warranties. On the Execution Date, each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that:
 - 4.1.2. the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement are within its powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action and do not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to which it is a party *or any Laws*; (Bold and italics added.)
- 4.2. <u>General Covenants</u>. Each Party covenants that throughout the Term of this Agreement:
 - 4.2.1. it shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation;
 - 4.2.2. it shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required, including through renewal, as applicable) all regulatory authorizations necessary for it to legally perform its obligations under this Agreement; and
 - 4.2.3. it shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that does not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to which it is a party, *or any Law*. (Bold and italics added.)⁶

4

⁵ By way of example, the link to PG&E's BioMAT PPA is as follows: www.pge.com/includes/docs/pdfs/b2b/wholesaleelectricsuppliersolicitation/BioMAT_PPA_Dec2016.pdf.

⁶ Similar language appears in Southern California Edison Company and San Diego Gas & Electric Company's BioMAT PPAs.

1.2. The Winding Creek Litigation

PG&E has recently raised a concern about its ability to make the representation with respect to, the "or any Laws" and "or any Law" language in Sections 4.1 and 4.2. PG&E questions whether the BioMAT program complies with the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (PURPA), in light of a recent order of the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California in Winding Creek Solar LLC v. Peevey, et al., Case No. 13-cv-04934-JD (N.D. Cal. Dec. 6, 2017) (Winding Creek). In Winding Creek, the District Court concluded that the ReMAT Program's pricing mechanism and contracting limits violate PURPA. Although Winding Creek was specific to the Commission's ReMAT decisions, and despite the distinguishing characteristics of ReMAT and BioMAT, some Investorowned Utilities are concerned that the language from Winding Creek is broad enough to impact the viability of the BioMAT program. PG&E's concern is memorialized in its Comments to Draft Resolution E-4922 (submitted March 12, 2018). As a result of this concern, PG&E is reluctant to execute BioMAT PPAs without modifying the standard language in the BioMAT PPA.

1.3. Resolution E-4922

The impact of the *Winding Creek* decision on the viability of the BioMAT program has continued to be a concern for certain parties despite the Commission's effort to put the matter to rest. In Resolution E-4922,7 the Commission ordered the Investor-owned Utilities8 to continue their BioMAT programs under current program rules, and to execute contracts with eligible

⁷ Commission order to continue the Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff program and to execute certain bioenergy contracts (March 22, 2018).

⁸ PG&E, Southern California Edison Company, and San Diego Gas & Electric Company.

Sellers that have been accepted and may in the future accept prices offered as part of the BioMAT program.

Prior to the adoption of Resolution E-4922, several parties expressed varying opinions about the impact of the District Court's order in *Winding Creek* on the draft Resolution and the BioMAT program generally. The Commission considered those concerns but nonetheless found that *Winding Creek* did not apply to the BioMAT program. While the order enjoined the Commission from continuing to implement the Renewable Market Adjusting Tariff program, the *Winding Creek* complaint did not mention the BioMAT program. In the Commission's view, interpreting the District Court's order to apply to BioMAT would go beyond that order, would go beyond addressing the *Winding Creek's* operative complaint, and would inappropriately expand the scope of the order beyond what was issued by the Court.

1.4. The Assigned Commissioner's Ruling and Party Comments

Despite Resolution E-4922's directive, requiring parties to BioMAT contracts to attest that the contracts were not in violation of any laws (as required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2) while the *Winding Creek* order was still pending resulted in continued party consternation that could impact important policy objectives. Given the urgency of addressing the tree mortality crisis in California⁹ and the State's priority in utilizing high fire hazard zone fuel, on April 16, 2018, the Assigned Commissioner issued his *Ruling Ordering Party Comments on Proposed Modification on Language in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the BioMAT Power Purchase Agreement* (*April 16, 2018 ACR*). On April 26, 2018, the following parties filed comments: PG&E, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, Southern California

⁹ Governor Brown's Tree Mortality Emergency Proclamation: https://www.gov.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/10.30.15_Tree_Mortality_State_of_Emergency.pdf.

Edison Company, The Bioenergy Association of California, The California Biomass Energy Alliance, The Agricultural Energy Consumers Association, The Office of Ratepayer Advocates, Placer County Air Pollution Control District, and Phoenix Energy. As will be seen in the summary of the comments, the parties were divided on whether BioMAT should be modified, with some parties offering alternative modifications.

1.4.1. PG&E

PG&E supports the proposed modifications in the *April 16, 2018 ACR*.

PG&E writes that "removing this language would mitigate PG&E's concerns and allow PG&E to move expeditiously to execute the outstanding BioMAT contracts." ¹⁰

1.4.2. San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E)

SDG&E opposes the proposed modifications. They continue to be concerned that continuing the BioMAT tariff would violate federal law, and they write that their legal concerns are "not at all obviated" by the modifications proposed in the Ruling.¹¹ If *Winding Creek* were upheld on appeal, SDG&E writes that a party "would challenge the legality of BioMAT in court, and successfully move for summary judgment given the common operative facts of BioMAT and ReMAT."¹² In that scenario, the Commission and parties would have to determine whether, and if so, how to unwind the new BioMAT contracts in light of the *Winding Creek* holding, which would be a disruptive and

¹⁰ PG&E Comments at 1.

¹¹ SDG&E Comments at 2.

¹² Ibid.

resource-consuming process that would exacerbate the tree mortality crisis rather than help it. SDG&E also writes that it is unfair for the Commission to order IOUs to enter in contracts that they believe to be illegal under federal law.¹³

SDG&E also writes that removing the phrase "or any law" would remove safeguards they rely on to protect its customers from counterparties that might act in an unlawful manner. For example, they write that under this proposal, a seller would not be required to represent, warrant, or covenant that it is in compliance with: Market-based Rate Authority from the FERC; Safety statutes and regulations; Labor and Wage ordinances and statutes; Local zoning and permitting requirements; or Applicable provisions of the California Commercial Code. Removing "or any law" would remove SDG&E's ability to terminate the PPA if the seller acted illegally.¹⁴

SDG&E recommends two temporary, partial solutions to their concerns. The partial solutions are: 15

- 1. Exclude only PURPA from among the laws referenced in Sections 4.1 and 4.2; or
- 2. Allow IOUs, as buyers under the BioMAT PPA, not to be subject to the PPA's requirements as to representation, warranties, and covenants.

SDG&E caveats that their recommendations are intended to "help the Commission and parties find an appropriate solution to managing the BioMAT contracting issues until the wider legal issues are resolved," and they do not "fully resolve either the wider concerns raised by *Winding Creek* or the

¹³ SDG&E Comments at 3.

¹⁴ SDG&E Comments at 3-4.

¹⁵ SDG&E Comments at 5-6.

representations, warranties and covenant sections of the BioMAT PPA."¹⁶ Overall, they maintain that the Commission's best course is to not require further BioMAT contracting.

1.4.3. Southern California Edison Company (SCE)

SCE is concerned that the proposed modification would have the unintended consequence of alleviating a party of its obligation under the BioMAT PPA to comply with all applicable laws. SCE believes that such an obligation is appropriate and necessary. Instead of deleting references to "or any Laws" in the BioMAT PPA, SCE proposes a modification to add the following language at the end of Section 4.2.3 of the BioMAT PPA: 18

"Buyer makes no representation, warranty or covenant with respect to the legality of the Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff program or any Buyer's [sic] actions required pursuant to such program."

And while SCE points out that no court has found BioMAT to be non-compliant with PURPA, they write that PG&E's concerns are legitimate in that a court could find that BioMAT's Commission-mandated avoided-cost methodology is not PURPA-compliant and that such a finding, post-PPA execution, could have adverse impacts, including cost recovery impacts.¹⁹ To allay the concerns regarding cost recovery in the event of a successful challenge of BioMAT under PURPA, SCE recommends that the Commission amend

¹⁶ SDG&E Comments at 6.

¹⁷ SCE Comments at 1.

¹⁸ SCE Comments at 2.

¹⁹ *Ibid*.

Resolution E-4922 or order the modification of the BioMAT tariffs to expressly state as follows:²⁰

"The costs of all purchases under BioMAT contracts, which contracts are entered into pursuant to legally enforceable obligations and imposed by the Commission under PURPA Section 210, have been found to be prudent by the Commission, and thus all costs associated with such purchases are recoverable as a matter of law under PURPA Section 210(m)(7)."

1.4.4. The Bioenergy Association of California (BAC)

BAC supports the proposed modification to the BioMAT PPA if PG&E agrees to execute BioMAT contracts upon adoption of the modification.²¹ After writing that further delays in contract executions will impede the state's efforts to reduce wildfire impacts and to reduce emissions of Short-Lived Climate Pollutants,²² BAC points to Rule 14.6 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, which allows for an expedited decision where parties stipulate to the decision or where there is no objection to it. If no party objects, they ask the Commission to adopt the *April 16*, 2018 ACR's modifications at the next possible business meeting to avoid further contract delays.²³

BAC also urges the Commission to require that utilities execute pending BioMAT contracts within two business days of the Commission's Decision adopting the proposed modification. Given that Resolution E-4922 required the IOUs to execute within 30 days of adoption of that Resolution, and the proposed modifications in the *April 16, 2018 ACR* consists of deleting a few words from the

²⁰ *Ibid*.

²¹ BAC Comments at 3.

²² BAC Comments at 2-3.

²³ BAC Comments at 3.

PPA, BAC does not see why more time would be needed to finalize and execute the pending BioMAT contracts.²⁴

Finally, BAC recommends that the threat of a legal challenge should be addressed in the Energy Division's BioMAT program review, and urges the Commission to move forward as quickly as possible with the BioMAT program review to address this and other issues that are preventing successful implementation of the BioMAT program.²⁵

1.4.5. The California Biomass Energy Alliance (CBEA)

CBEA supports the *April 16, 2018 ACR's* proposed modifications, and writes that they do not believe that BioMAT projects would be hurt by the proposed decision.²⁶

CBEA also supports BAC's letter to Commission Executive Director Alice Stebbins, which opposed PG&E's request for an extension of time to comply with Resolution E-4922. CBEA writes that the *April 16, 2018 ACR* should not be used as an excuse to further delay the signing of BioMAT contracts.²⁷

1.4.6. The Agricultural Energy Consumers Association (AECA)

AECA requests that a ruling or order be issued as soon as possible, so that the IOUs can begin executing pending BioMAT contracts, and resuming BioMAT procurement. They note that ongoing delays cause economic harm to the dairy industry; put investment in BioMAT projects, project financing, and grants at risk; and delay efforts to achieve dairy-related greenhouse gas reductions.²⁸

²⁴ BAC Comments at 4.

²⁵ *Ibid*.

²⁶ CBEA Comments at 1.

²⁷ *Ibid*.

²⁸ AECA Comments at 1-2.

AECA writes that PG&E continues to avoid executing contracts with participants who have accepted offered prices, and has also ceased holding new BioMAT program periods, accepting new BioMAT applications, and executing new BioMAT contracts, and that PG&E's inaction is contrary to program rules, Energy Division's November 2017 letter to the IOUs, and Resolution E-4922.²⁹

AECA does not believe that the proposed modifications are necessary. They write that "the Commission thoroughly and appropriately addressed PG&E's concerns in Resolution E-4922," and that nothing has changed since the Resolution was issued.³⁰ However, AECA does not object to proposed modifications because "the critical path is to resume the BioMAT program."³¹ Accordingly, whether or not the Commission determines to modify the BioMAT PPA, AECA recommends that the Commission act as quickly as possible to avoid further delays.

1.4.7. The Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA)

ORA does not consider the proposed modifications to sufficiently protect ratepayers from the risk of default,³² and requests the Commission consider the potential effects of the *April 16*, 2018 ACR proposed modifications on ratepayers in greater detail.³³

They write that the *April 16, 2018 ACR* presented a narrow set of facts that did not make clear how removing the phrase "or any laws" would limit ratepayer exposure to the costs of liability. Because the underlying concerns over the legitimacy of the BioMAT program and ratepayer impacts were not

²⁹ AECA Comments at 2-3.

³⁰ AECA Comments at 4.

³¹ *Ibid*.

³² ORA Comments at 1.

³³ ORA Comments at 3.

addressed, ORA is concerned that ratepayers may be unprotected from any future law or court decision holding BioMAT in violation of PURPA, and that ratepayer funds from previously authorized contracts will be left stranded and that ratepayers may incur additional costs such as litigation expenses. Finally, ORA writes that it is unclear whether removing the "or any laws" language will create additional, non-PURPA related liability, and thus, additional costs for ratepayers.³⁴

ORA also points out that the use of High Hazard Zone (HHZ) fuel is not a requirement to participate in BioMAT, and that the Commission's Bioenergy Renewable Action Mechanism (BioRAM) program, which does have a requirement to utilize HHZ resources, was specifically implemented to address the Governor's October 2015 Emergency Order on Tree Mortality.³⁵ Thus, BioMAT is not the only mechanism to address tree mortality, and, as such, "the Ruling mischaracterizes the role BioMAT plays in addressing the State's tree mortality crisis and fails to provide for further development of a record to rely on, or a forum to assess ratepayer impacts."³⁶

1.4.8. Placer County Air Pollution Control District (PCAPCD)

PCAPCD supports the *April 16, 2018 ACR's* proposed modifications.³⁷ While they disagree with the assertion by PG&E that *Winding Creek* has any relevance to the BioMAT program, they respect the effort of the Commission to ameliorate the situation through the PPA revision. They also write that the IOUs should comply with Resolution E-4922, and that they support Energy Division's

³⁴ ORA Comments at 2.

³⁵ ORA Comments at 2-3.

³⁶ ORA Comments at 3.

³⁷ PCAPCD Comments at 2.

program review as long as BioMAT stays in place and remains viable while changes are considered and implemented.³⁸

1.4.9. Phoenix Energy

Phoenix Energy supports the *April 16, 2018 ACR's* proposed modifications.³⁹ They suggest that the Commission enforce resolution E-4922 and order PG&E to execute pending BioMAT contracts with the current PPA language with the acknowledgement that the contracts may be revised to address PG&E's concern. They write that this action is necessary because contract execution delays are causing uncertainty in the market, and this would be justified because SCE has continued to execute BioMAT contracts and because no court has invalidated the BioMAT decision.⁴⁰ Phoenix Energy writes that PG&E has provided written documentation that they have what they need to issue the PPAs awarded in October 2017, and that Phoenix will not be changing any of the data that they provided in their Program Participation Request (PPR) forms. ⁴¹

In order to resolve this uncertainty, Phoenix Energy asks to Commission to set a fixed deadline for contract execution. Phoenix Energy asserts that a deadline is needed because delays are causing projects to fail, and the California Energy Commission has issued stop work notices to some projects, threatened cancelation of grants to others due to PPA delays, and private funding sources are teetering because of the uncertainty around whether PPAs will be issued at all.⁴² Like BAC, Phoenix Energy points to Rule 14.6 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, and asks the Commission to adopt the *April 16*, 2018

³⁸ PCAPCD Comments at 2-3.

³⁹ Phoenix Energy Comments at 2.

⁴⁰ Phoenix Energy Comments at 3.

⁴¹ Phoenix Energy Comments at 3-4.

⁴² Phoenix Energy Comments at 4.

ACR's modifications at the next possible business meeting to avoid further contract delays.⁴³ Phoenix Energy also asks the Commission to order PG&E to execute pending BioMAT contracts within 72 hours of the final decision adopting the modification.⁴⁴

Finally, Phoenix Energy writes that PG&E is imposing new requirements to maintain BioMAT eligibility. For example, on April 26, 2018, PG&E sent an e-mail to Phoenix Energy saying that "moving forward, BioMAT participants in the queue are required to actively attest that they still meet the eligibility criteria. This attestation is in the form of a check box on the price selection screen. If the attestation and price selection are not completed, participants will be assumed to be no longer eligible and may lose their position in the BioMAT queue." Phoenix Energy writes that this is a unilateral alteration by PG&E outside of the proceeding and that it should not be allowed.⁴⁵

2. Discussion

2.1. The Commission has the Authority to Shorten or Waive the Comment Period in order to Issue Decisions on an Expedited Basis

Normally, proposed Commission decisions are served on the parties 30 days in advance of the date of the Commission Voting Meeting where the subject proposed decision will be voted on either as part of the consent agenda or as part of the regular agenda.⁴⁶ With the 30 day advance, opening comments are filed within 20 days of the date the proposed decision is served on the parties,

⁴³ Phoenix Energy Comments at 4-5.

⁴⁴ Phoenix Energy Comments at 5.

⁴⁵ Phoenix Energy Comments at 6.

⁴⁶ Pub. Util. Code § 311.

and reply comments may be filed within five days after the last day for filing opening comments.⁴⁷

The Rules permit the Commission to shorten or waive the comment period. Pursuant to Rule 14.6(a), the time to comment may be shortened or waived in "an unforeseen emergency situation." Alternatively, pursuant to Rule 14.6(c), the Commission may shorten or waive the comment period in certain non-emergency situations. Rule 14.6(c)(10) provides that in a proceeding where no hearings were conducted, the time may be shortened or waived where "public necessity" in having the Commission act in a time frame shorter than the 30-day period "outweighs the public interest in having the full 30-day period for review and comment." "Public necessity" includes situations where the failure to adopt a decision before the expiration of the 30-day review and comment period "would place the Commission or a Commission regulatee in violation of applicable law, or where such failure would cause significant harm to public health or welfare."

2.2. The Public Necessity to Act Quickly by Shortening the Comment Period on this Decision Outweighs the Need for a 30-day Comment Period

The BioMAT program helps to achieve important public policy objectives, and any further delay in the contracting process would frustrate the Legislature's expressed directives. Since SB 1122's passage and implementation, complementary and related statewide policies have been enacted that reinforce the importance of small bioenergy facilities in achieving statewide climate, waste diversion, and public safety goals. Senate Bill (SB) 1383 (Lara 2016) requires the California Air Resources Board (CARB) to approve and begin implementing a comprehensive strategy to reduce Short Lived Climate Pollutants (SLCPs) in the

⁴⁷ Rule 14.3.

state. The law includes requirements to reduce methane emission 40% below 2013 levels by 2030, reduce methane emissions from livestock and dairy manure management operations by up to 40% below 2013 levels by 2030, and achieve a 50% reduction in the statewide disposal of organic waste in landfills from 2014 levels by 2020 and a 75% reduction by 2025. Category 1 and 2 BioMAT-eligible projects will contribute to meeting these goals.

In addition, the Governor's October 2015 Emergency Order on Tree Mortality set environmental, air quality and public safety priorities to which Category 3 BioMAT-eligible facilities can contribute, and specifically directed the Commission to facilitate contracts for these facilities in the BioMAT program. In March 2017, CARB adopted a Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Strategy that sets a goal of 40% reduction of methane emissions by 2030, which explicitly mentions BioMAT as a program that provides important market signals and potential revenue streams to support projects to reduce short-lived climate pollutant emissions. Most recently, on May 10, 2018, Governor Brown issued Executive Order B-52-18 in order to protect communities from wildfires and climate impacts. Directive 16 requests that the Commission "review and update its procurement programs for small bioenergy renewable generators to

_

The Governor's Emergency Proclamation Order addresses bark beetle and drought caused tree mortality and the hazards such tree mortality creates for the State of California. The Emergency Proclamation orders the CPUC to evaluate changes to the BioMAT program to facilitate contracts for bioenergy facilities that utilize feedstock from "high hazard zones" (HHZ) for wildfire and falling trees. Changes to-date include Decision 16-10-025 approved in 2016, which implemented SB 840, and streamlined interconnection requirements for biomass projects and accelerated price adjustments for BioMAT Category 3, Decision 17-08-021, issued in August of 2017, which implemented AB 1923, which increased the facility size limit for Category 3 facilities, and other actions targeting the deployment of HHZ biomass energy generation.

⁴⁹ Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Strategy. California Air Resources Board, March 2017.

<www.arb.ca.gov/cc/shortlived/meetings/03142017/final_slcp_report.pdf>

ensure long-term programmatic certainty for investor-owned utilities and project developers, as well as benefits to ratepayers."⁵⁰ In view of the Governor's directive, the Commission's action is both timely and appropriate.

But because of the *Winding Creek* order, the BioMAT program has experienced delays in the execution of PPAs since December 2017, and these delays have been confirmed by some of the parties who filed comments to the *April 16, 2018 ACR*.⁵¹ For example, Phoenix Energy states on pages 3 and 6 of its comments:

PGE has provided written documentation to our firm that they have what they need to issue the PPAs awarded in October 2017. We state openly for the record that we will not be changing any of our now several reiterations of the same data we provided in our PPR forms.

We have written confirmation from the Utility that they have what they need. PGE has no need to confirm for the third or fourth time what is in our submitted paperwork. We will not be modifying anything. We urge the Commission not to wait another fire season.

AECA expressed similar urgency on page 4 of its comments:

There are important reasons and need for the IOUs to expeditiously resume signing BioMAT contracts with developers that have accepted an offered price, and hold new BioMAT program periods, accept new BioMAT applications, and execute new BioMAT contracts. Repeated delays in BioMAT implementation are impeding progress toward the state's GHG goals, creating uncertainty for developers seeking

⁵⁰ The link to the text for the Executive Order can be found in the Governor's Press Office release dated May 10, 2018.

⁵¹ BioMAT program uncertainty also resulted from PG&E's December 1, 2017 filing of the Motion of Pacific Gas & Electric Company to Suspend BioMAT Program Procurement, which was denied on December 18, 2017 in ALJ's Ruling Denying Pacific Gas & Electric Company's Motion to Suspend BioMAT Procurement Program.

to participate in a legislatively mandated program, and jeopardizing investments in and the award of grants for dairy projects.

As such, prompt action on this Decision is essential to end the delays in contract execution that are causing hardships and creating uncertainty for numerous BioMAT projects, so the public benefits identified above may be realized.

The Commission believes that the elimination of the "or any law" and "or any laws" language from Sections 4.1 and 4.2 from the approved BioMAT PPAs will achieve two related objectives. First, it will remove the concern that PPA signatories are making an attestation regarding the purpose and effect of the *Winding Creek* order. Second, it will clear the way for utilities such as PG&E to move forward with its BioMAT contracts, thus getting the BioMAT program back on track to achieve the State's environmental, air quality, and public safety priorities.

In light of the need for the Commission to act expeditiously, this decision orders that opening comments be served by May 21, 2018, and that any reply comments be served by noon on May 25, 2018. No party will be prejudiced by a shortened comment period. The parties were already put on notice when the *April 16, 2018 ACR* was served that the assigned Commissioner was thinking of proposing this modification to the full Commission. All parties were given a previous opportunity to comment, and a number of parties did serve comments by the April 26, 2018 deadline. As the decision makes the modification that the *April 16, 2018 ACR* proposed, the Commission does not believe that the parties need a full 30 days to file additional comments. Instead, the shortened time frame for comments will give the parties sufficient time to make any supplementary positions known to the Commission.

2.3. Response to Party Comments to the April 16, 2018 ACR

In reaching the conclusion to modify the BioMAT PPA, we have considered the various arguments that the parties raised in the comments to the *April 16, 2018 ACR*. Preliminarily, we reject those arguments that were made previously to the proposed adoption of Resolution E-4922 as certain parties are improperly attempting to reargue matters that have already been considered and found lacking. Yet we highlight those additional arguments in this section that are germane to the proposed modification and explain why the Commission does not find them persuasive. First, we reject the alternative solutions that some parties have proposed be made to the BioMAT PPA. For example, SDG&E first proposes that Subsections 4.1.2. and 4.2.3. be revised so that instead of removing "or any Laws" and "or any Law," the Commission insert "with the exception of PURPA."52 We find this solution to be both ambiguous as to the language's meaning and uncertain as to its scope. PURPA has various components so it not clear what SDG&E's proposal intends by the phrase "with the exception of PURPA." Alternatively, SDG&E proposes that the language be revised so that only the seller and not the buyer be required to make the attestations required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2.53 We reject this solution because the attestation obligation should be reciprocal, rather than imposed only on one party to the BioMAT PPA.

We also reject the argument by ORA and SDG&E that removing "or any Laws" and "or any Law" may result in unintended consequences. SDG&E claims that a seller would not be required to represent, warrant, or covenant that it is in compliance with Market-based Rate Authority from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission; safety statues and regulations, labor and wage

⁵² SDG&E Comments at 5.

⁵³ SDG&E Comments at 5.

ordinances and statutes; local zoning and permitting requirements; and applicable provision of the California Commercial Code. Yet SDG&E cites to no authority that would somehow excuse the seller from *complying* with these laws if the Commission adopts the proposed language modification. Further, we note that all contracting parties have an obligation to comply with applicable laws and regulations, regardless of whether a contract expressly states as such. This is a legal *maxim* that has been recognized and debated by philosophers and legal scholars since the time of Plato.⁵⁴ Thus, the Commission's modification does not eliminate that longstanding obligation considered integral to the orderly functioning of civilized societies.

ORA's argument regarding ratepayer exposure is equally unpersuasive. It claims that the modification potentially leaves ratepayers unprotected if the BioMAT program is suspended and ratepayer funds utilized for previously authorized contracts may be left stranded. But ratepayers are protected by, at a minimum, Pub. Util. Code § 451 which provides that all charges demanded or received by any public utility must be just and reasonable. In the unlikely event that a court voids a contract funded by ratepayer monies, there would be an opportunity for the Commission to audit, or for the utility to provide a true up of, ratepayer dollars expended to determine if they pass the reasonableness test, or if any refunds, credits, or offsets are warranted.

Comments on Proposed Decision

This decision was served on the parties on May 14, 2018. Pursuant to Rule 16.6 (c)(10), opening comments are due on May, 21 2018. Reply comments are

⁵⁴ See, e.g. Lefkowitz, David. "The Duty to Obey the Law" (2006). Philosophy Faculty Publications. Paper 64. See also Civil Code § 3548: "The law has been obeyed[;]" and In re Neilson's Estate (1962) 57 Cal.2d 733 ("It is presumed that a person obeys the law.")

due by nooi	n on May 25, 2018.	The following	parties filed	opening
comments:_	The following	parties filed rej	ply commen	ts:

Assignment of Proceeding

Clifford Rechtschaffen is the assigned Commissioner, and Anne E. Simon, Robert M. Mason III, and Nilgun Atamturk are the assigned Administrative Law Judges in this proceeding.

Findings of Fact

- 1. In Decision (D.) 15-09-004, the Commission Approved, as Modified, Bioenergy Electric Generation Tariff, Standard Contract, and Supporting Documents to Implement Decision 14-12-081 on Bioenergy Feed-In Tariff for the Renewables Portfolio Standard Program. D.15-09-004 authorizes the Investor-owned Utilities (IOUs) to file a tariff, standard contract, and ancillary documents that comply with the determinations made regarding the draft documents.
- 2. As a result of D.15-09-004, PG&E, along with Southern California Edison Company and San Diego Gas & Electric Company, drafted a joint Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff (BioMAT) Agreement. Of note are Sections 4.1 (Representations and Warranties) and 4.2 (General Covenants), which provide as follows:
 - 4.1. Representations and Warranties. On the Execution Date, each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that:
 - 4.1.2. the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement are within its powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action and do not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to which it is a party *or any Laws*; (Bold and italics added.)
 - 4.2. <u>General Covenants</u>. Each Party covenants that throughout the Term of this Agreement:
 - 4.2.1. it shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation;

- 4.2.2. it shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required, including through renewal, as applicable) all regulatory authorizations necessary for it to legally perform its obligations under this Agreement; and
- 4.2.3. it shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that does not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, any contracts to which it is a party, *or any Law*. (Bold and italics added.)
- 3. In Winding Creek Solar LLC v. Peevey, et al., Case No. 13-cv-04934-JD (N.D. Cal. Dec. 6, 2017) (Winding Creek), the District Court concluded that the Renewable Energy Market Adjusting Tariff (ReMAT) Program's pricing mechanism and contracting limits violate the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978.
- 4. Although *Winding Creek* was specific to the Commission's ReMAT decisions, and despite the distinguishing characteristics of ReMAT and BioMAT, some IOUs are concerned that the language from *Winding Creek* is broad enough to impact the viability of the BioMAT program.
- 5. Several parties expressed varying opinions about the impact of the District Court's order in *Winding Creek* on the draft Resolution E-4922 and the BioMAT program generally.
- 6. On March 22, 2018, the Commission issued Resolution E-4922, ordering the IOUs to continue their BioMAT programs under current program rules, and to execute certain bioenergy contracts with eligible sellers.
- 7. On April 16, 2018, the Assigned Commissioner issued his *Ruling Ordering Party Comments on Proposed Modification on Language in Sections 4.1 and* 4.2 of the BioMAT Power Purchase Agreement (April 16, 2018 ACR).
 - 8. On April 26, 2018, the following parties filed comments: PG&E,

San Diego Gas & Electric Company, Southern California Edison Company, The Bioenergy Association of California, The California Biomass Energy Alliance, The Agricultural Energy Consumers Association, The Office of Ratepayer Advocates, Placer County Air Pollution Control District, and Phoenix Energy.

9. The BioMAT program helps to achieve important public policy objectives, and any delay in the contracting process would frustrate the Legislature's expressed directives.

Conclusions of Law

- 1. It is reasonable to conclude that there is public necessity in shortening the period for service of comments on the decision.
- 2. It is reasonable to conclude that the public necessity behind shortening the period comments outweighs the public interest in a full 30-day period for review and comment.
- 3. It is reasonable to conclude that the period for serving opening comments be shortened to seven days after this decision is served on the parties.
- 4. It is reasonable to conclude that the period for serving reply comments be shortened to noon on the fifth day after opening comments have been served.
- 5. It is reasonable to conclude that no party will be prejudiced by the shortened comment period that this decision adopts.
- 6. It is reasonable to conclude that the attestation provisions (Sections 4.1 and 4.2) in the approved BioMAT PPAs should be revised to eliminate the phrases "or any Laws" and "or any Law."
- 7. It is reasonable to conclude that contracting parties have an obligation to comply with applicable laws and regulations, regardless of whether a contract expressly states as such.
- 8. In order to allow BioMAT contracting to proceed expeditiously, this decision should be effective immediately.

ORDER

IT IS ORDERED that:

Decision 15-09-004 is modified. The attestation clauses in the Bioenergy Market Adjusting Tariff Power Purchase Agreement are modified to strike the language "or any Laws" and "or any Law" from Sections 4.1 and 4.2. Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are revised to read as follows:

- 4.1. Representations and Warranties. On the Execution Date, each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that:
 - 4.1.2. the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement are within its powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary action and do not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, or any contracts to which it is a party;
- 4.2. <u>General Covenants</u>. Each Party covenants that throughout the Term of this Agreement:
 - 4.2.1. it shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its formation;
 - 4.2.2. it shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required, including through renewal, as applicable) all regulatory authorizations necessary for it to legally perform its obligations under this Agreement; and
 - 4.2.3. it shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that does not violate any of the terms and conditions in its governing documents, or any contracts to which it is a party.

This order is effective today.	
Dated	, at San Francisco, California